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Preserving Cultural Resources

Yellowstone National Park’s mission includes pre-
serving and interpreting evidence of past human 
activity through archeology and historic preservation; 
features that are integral to how a group of people 
identifies itself (ethnographic resources); and places 
associated with a significant event, activity, person 
or group of people that provide a sense of place 
and identity (historic buildings, roads, and cultural 
landscapes). All of these materials and places tell the 
story of people in Yellowstone. Collectively, they are 
referred to as cultural resources. 

Archeology
Archeological resources are the primary—and often 
the only—source of information about humans in 
Yellowstone for nearly the entire time that people 

have been in the area. Archeological evidence indi-
cates that people began traveling through and using 
the area that was to become Yellowstone National 
Park more than 11,000 years ago. Because the in-
tensity of use varies through time as environmental 
conditions become more or less favorable for hu-
mans, archeological resources also provide a means 
for interdisciplinary investigations of past climate and 
biotic change. 

Many thermal areas contain evidence that early 
people camped there. At Obsidian Cliff, a National 
Historic Landmark, volcanic glass was quarried for 
the manufacture of tools and ceremonial artifacts 
that entered a trading network extending from 
western Canada to the Midwest. These remnants of 
past cultures must be preserved as they are invaluable 

Quick Facts

Archeological
•	 More than 1,800 known 

prehistoric and historic Native 
American archeological sites 
and historic European American 
archeological sites

Ethnographic
•	 More than 300 ethnographic 

resources (animals, plants, 
sites, etc.)

Historic
•	 25 sites, landmarks, and districts 

listed on the National Register of 
Historic Places; many more eligible 
for listing

•	 More than 900 historic buildings

•	 1 National Historic Trail

Collections
Housed in the Yellowstone Heritage and 
Research Center

•	 Museum collection of more than 
720,000 museum items, including 
30 historic vehicles 

•	 Archives containing millions of 
historic documents 

•	 Research library holds more than 
20,000 books and periodicals 
available to the public; plus 
manuscripts and rare books 
available to historians and 
other researchers

Yellowstone’s cultural resources tell the stories of people, shown here around 1910 near the Old Faithful Inn, and 
their connections to the park. The protection of these resources affects how the park is managed today.
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in our understanding of early people in the area. 
More modern archeological sites in Yellowstone 
include the remains of early tourist hotels and army 
soldier stations.

Findings in Yellowstone
Although more than 1,800 archeological sites have 
been documented since the archeology program 
began in 1995, only about 3% of the park has been 
surveyed. Most documented sites are in developed 
areas because archeological evidence has been 
discovered there inadvertently or as part of National 
Historic Preservation Act compliance related to 
construction activities and hazard fuel reduction 
projects. 

Salvage efforts have been made at some sites 
where archeological remains are especially vulner-
able to disturbance or loss through erosion or illegal 
collecting. 

Condition assessments performed on most of the 
documented sites found 65% of those in good condi-
tion, 24% were fair, 9% were poor, and 1% no longer 
existed because of natural factors or disturbance as a 
result of construction or other authorized activity. 

Multiple significant sites along the Yellowstone 
River have been nominated to the National Register 
of Historic Places. These contain projectile points or 
arrowheads, scrapers and other tools, and concentra-
tions of burned and butchered bone, including the 
first evidence of fishing found in the park.

Radiocarbon dating is used to establish the age of 
organic artifacts such as charcoal or bone. However, 
organic materials (wood, bone, basketry, clothing) 
rarely persist in the Yellowstone environment, so 
stone artifacts provide most of the chronological 
information on Yellowstone’s prehistory. Most of the 
stone tools that can be associated with a particular 
time period are projectile points. At Malin Creek, 
campsites from five distinct periods of indigenous 
use spanning over 9,000 years are stacked upon each 
other starting at five feet below the surface. These 
features have revealed how tool manufacture and 
foodways changed over time.

The earliest evidence of humans in Yellowstone 
is an 11,000-year-old Clovis type spear point found 
at the park’s north entrance in Gardiner, Montana, 
made of obsidian from Obsidian Cliff. (Obsidian 
from different lava flows can be chemically finger-
printed using x-ray fluorescence.) Later in time, 
point types increase in number and type which may 
indicate that the number of people in the area was 
becoming larger as well as more diverse. Most docu-
mented sites in the park are from the Archaic period 
(8,000 to 1,800 years ago), suggesting that it was the 
most intense period of use by prehistoric people. 
Recent archeological surveys have identified a large 
number of sites dating to later periods in prehistory 
(approximately 1400–1800 CE). Distinguishing use of 
these sites by different ethnic groups or tribes, how-
ever, has not yet been possible.

Cultural Resource Laws

The Antiquities Act (1906)
Provides for the protection of historic, prehistoric, and 
scientific features and artifacts from federal lands.

The Historic Sites Act (1935)
Sets a national policy to “preserve for future public use 
historic sites, buildings, and objects.”

The National Historic Preservation Act (1966)
Requires that federal agencies take into account effects of 
their undertakings on historic properties. Authorizes the 
creation of the National Register of Historic Places and gives 
extra protection to National Historic Landmarks and properties 
in the National Register. National parks established for their 
historic value automatically are registered; others, such as 
Yellowstone, must nominate landmarks and properties to the 
register.

The Archeological and Historic Preservation Act (1974)
Provides for the preservation of significant scientific, historic, 
and archeological material and data that might be lost or 
destroyed by federally sponsored projects. For example, 

federal highway projects in Yellowstone include archeological 
surveys. 

American Indian Religious Freedom Act (1978)
Protects and preserves American Indian access to sites, use 
and possession of sacred objects, and the freedom to worship 
through ceremonial and traditional rites. 

The Archeological Resources Protection Act (1979)
Provides for the preservation and custody of excavated 
materials, records, and data.

The Native American Graves Protection and 
Repatriation Act (1990)
Assigns ownership or control of Native American human 
remains, funerary objects, and sacred objects of cultural 
patrimony to culturally affiliated Native American groups.

Executive Order 13007
Guarantees access to and ceremonial use of Indian sacred 
sites by Indian religious practitioners to ensure that these sites 
are not adversely affected.
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Yellowstone Lake

The earliest intact archeological deposits in the park 
have been found at a site on the shore of Yellowstone 
Lake. The site was excavated because it was at risk of 
erosion, and revealed evidence of a 9,350-year-old 
camp where several families appear to have spent 
time. People probably used this area in the summer 
while hunting bear, deer, bighorn, and rabbits, and 
perhaps making tools and clothes. Artifacts dating to 
3,000 years ago have also been discovered on islands 
in the lake, leading some archeologists to speculate 
that indigenous peoples used watercraft to travel 
there.

Town Site of Cinnabar, Montana

In 1932, Yellowstone National Park increased in 
size by 7,609 acres to the north, on the west side of 
the Yellowstone River. Most of what are called the 
“boundary lands” was purchased from willing own-
ers; the rest was taken by eminent domain. But the 
town of Cinnabar had been abandoned long before. 
Construction of the branch line from Livingston in 
1883 made Cinnabar a hub for passengers and freight 
until the last three miles to the park entrance were 
built 20 years later. Nothing remains of the town 
today except archeological evidence from which 
something can be learned about the lives of its resi-
dents in the late 1800s.

To prevent impacts to archeological resources 
during a native plant restoration project planned 
for the boundary lands area, it was necessary to 
document where such resources were located. 
The Montana-Yellowstone Archeological Project 
(MYAP), a collaboration between the University of 
Montana and the National Park Service, surveyed 
about 3,000 acres and confirmed the location of the 
Cinnabar depot, excavated the blacksmith shop, and 
a likely foundation of a hotel. Historical artifacts on 
site included a railroad sign and revolver bullets. 

The MYAP team also documented sites with 
prehistoric components, including a tipi ring cluster 
approximately 5,000 years old—one of the oldest 
known in the Northern Plains. They identified a 
total of 18 stone circles and salvaged five prehistoric 
fire pits that were eroding out of the banks of the 
Yellowstone River downstream from Cinnabar. These 
were probably last used by the Pelican Lake culture 
that lived there 2,000 years ago.

More Information
Doss, P.K. and A. Bleichroth. 2012. Following the Path of 

Stone. Yellowstone Science. 20(2). 
Johnson, A. 2010. An overview of precontact archeology in 

Yellowstone. Yellowstone Science. 18(1). 
Livers, M. 2012. Stone circles in Yellowstone. Yellowstone 

Science. 20(2).
Moore, B. 2008. Buffalo Bill Cody’s Cinnabar cowboys. 

Montana Pioneer. March 2008. Livingston, MT.
Sanders., P. 2002. Prehistoric land-use patterns within the 

Yellowstone Lake basin and Hayden Valley region, 
Yellowstone National Park, Wyoming. In Yellowstone 
Lake: Hotbed of chaos or reservoir of resilience?: 
Proceedings of the 6th Biennial Scientific Conference 
on the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem, Yellowstone 
Center for Resources and The George Wright Society, 
Yellowstone National Park, WY, 213–231. Available at 
www.georgewright.org/01yp_sanders.pdf

Shortt, M.W. 2001. Museum of the Rockies archeological 
research in the canyons of the Yellowstone. Yellowstone 
Science. 9(2). 

Shortt, M.W. 2003. Record of early people on Yellowstone 
Lake: Cody Complex occupation at Osprey Beach. 
Yellowstone Science. 11(4). 

Szamuhel, R. 2007. A new prehistoric source for stone tools. 
Yellowstone Science. 15(1). 

Whittlesey, L. 2015. Gateway to Yellowstone: The raucous 
town of Cinnabar on the Montana frontier. TwoDot 
Books.

Staff Reviewers
Tobin Roop, Chief of Cultural Resources
Staffan Peterson, Archeologist
Lee Whittlesey, Historian

The Northern Pacific Railroad established Cinnabar 
(shown here in 1901) in 1883 as the last stop on its 
branch line to Yellowstone National Park, and caused 
its abandonment after the railroad was extended to 
the park boundary in 1902–1903.

The earliest intact cultural deposits in the park have 
been found at a site on the shore of Yellowstone Lake.

http://www.georgewright.org/01yp_sanders.pdf
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Ethnography
Yellowstone’s location at the convergence of the 
Great Plains, Great Basin, and Plateau Indian cultures 
means that many tribes have a traditional connection 
to the land and its resources. For thousands of years 
before the park was established, it was a place where 
Indians hunted, fished, gathered plants, quarried 
obsidian, and used the thermal waters for religious 
and medicinal purposes. Yellowstone’s ethnographic 
resources are the natural and cultural features that 
are integral to how a group of people identifies itself. 
They include sites, plant and animal species, and 
objects associated with routine or ceremonial activi-
ties, migration routes, or the group’s history that 
have an importance distinct from that recognized by 
other people. The resources are identified by those 
groups of people. 

Federal law requires the National Park Service 
to consult with Yellowstone’s associated tribes on a 
government-to-government basis on decisions about 
American Indian resources that are held “in trust” by 
the US Government.

Documentation and Associated Tribes
Documentation of ethnographic resources and issues 
is relatively new at Yellowstone. The park’s ethnog-
raphy program, which has been in place since 2000, 
has two major components: facilitating ethnographic 
research for use in park planning, resource manage-
ment, and interpretation; and maintaining effective 
relationships with the park’s associated tribes so that 
their perspectives can be considered in park manage-
ment decisions. 

The first tribes to request association came for-
ward in 1996; by 2003, 26 tribes were formally associ-
ated with Yellowstone. Since 2002, park managers 
have met periodically with tribal representatives to 
exchange information about ethnographic resources. 
The tribes have requested to participate in resource 
management and decision-making, to conduct cer-
emonies and other events in the park, and to collect 
plants and minerals for traditional uses. They are 
most concerned about the management of bison that 
leave the park; many of these tribes’ ancestors de-
pended on bison for physical and spiritual sustenance 
and continue to see their survival as tribes linked to 
that of the bison.

Discussion
Yellowstone is one of five pilot sites for the National 

Park Service’s Ethnographic Resources Inventory 
database. As a result of research and consultation 
with the tribes, the database contains information 
about more than 400 ethnographic resources in 
Yellowstone. More is being learned about Greater 
Yellowstone’s ethnographic resources through 11 
research contracts with historians, anthropologists, 
and tribes. A videotape and report documenting the 
uses and cultural significance of wickiups in what is 
now Yellowstone and Grand Teton national parks 
and Shoshone and Bridger–Teton national forests 
will be used to support tribal recommendations on 
wickiup preservation. Tribal representatives have also 
been involved in discussions about how to interpret 
the Yellowstone segment of the Nez Perce National 
Historic Trail and the associated sites and events of 
the 1877 Nez Perce War for park visitors.

More Information
Bulltail, John “Grant” (Apsaalooke/Crow Indian). 2002. 

Interview conducted June 26–27, Yellowstone National 
Park, Wyoming.

Janetski, J.C. 2002. Indians of Yellowstone Park. Revised edi-
tion. Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press.

Keller, R., and M. Turek. 1998. American Indians and na-
tional parks. Tucson: University of Arizona Press.

Nabokov, P., and L. Loendorf. 2004. Restoring a Presence: 
American Indians in Yellowstone National Park. Norman: 
University of Oklahoma Press. (An earlier version of 
this book, prepared as a report for the National Park 
Service, was published in 2002 as American Indians and 
Yellowstone National Park: A Documentary Overview, 
Mammoth Hot Springs, WY: Yellowstone National Park.)

Spence, M.D. 1999. Dispossessing the Wilderness: Indian 
Removal and the Making of the national parks. New 
York: Oxford University Press.

Staff Reviewers
Tobin Roop, Chief of Cultural Resources
Lee Whittlesey, Historian

Nez Perce tribal members in traditional regalia ride 
along the Firehole River during a memorial ceremony 
in 2004.
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Historic Structures, Districts, and 
Cultural Landscapes

In addition to objects that have been preserved 
because of the information they convey about past 
human activities in the region, the parks’ historical 
resources include dozens of sites, cultural land-
scapes, and structures listed on the National Register 
of Historic Places and many others that are eligible 
for inclusion. Most of these places are of interest 
because of their significance in architectural or park 
history, but archeological sites such as Obsidian Cliff 
are associated with American Indian use that pre-
dates the arrival of the first park visitors. The need 
to protect and understand the importance of these 
resources affects how the park is managed today.

Many Yellowstone structures have historical, 
architectural, and/or engineering significance in 
addition to providing facilities for visitor use and 
park management. This includes 954 buildings, 
roads and bridges, utility structures, grave markers, 
and other constructed features. Yellowstone is also 

home to five influential examples of park “rustic” 
architecture—the Old Faithful Inn, the Northeast 
Entrance Station, and the Norris, Madison, and 
Fishing Bridge museums. Preserving a historic 
structure requires minimizing the rate at which his-
torical material is lost and ensuring additions and 
alterations are compatible with historic character. 
Many structures in the park require replacement of 
historical materials to avert structural failure and 
strengthening to withstand seismic events. 

Historic Designations

National Register of Historic Places
In Yellowstone, includes:

•	 Grand Loop Road District 

•	 Lake Fish Hatchery District

•	 Lake Hotel District 

•	 Lamar Buffalo Ranch District 

•	 Mammoth Hot Springs District

•	 North Entrance Road District

•	 Old Faithful Area District

•	 Roosevelt Lodge District

•	 Obsidian Cliff Kiosk

•	 Queen’s Laundry Bathhouse

•	 Mammoth Post Office

The National Register of Historic Places is 
the Nation’s official list of historic places 
worthy of preservation. Authorized by 
the National Historic Preservation Act of 
1966, the National Register is a national 
program to coordinate and support 
public and private efforts to identify, 
evaluate, and protect our historic and 
archeological resources. 

Properties listed in the Register include 
districts, sites, buildings, structures, and 
objects that are significant in American 

history, architecture, archeology, 
engineering, and culture. The National 
Register is administered by the National 
Park Service. Currently 73,000 listings 
have been nominated by governments, 
organizations, and individuals because 
they are important to a community, a 
state, or the nation.

National Historic Landmarks
In Yellowstone, includes:

•	 Fishing Bridge, Madison, and Norris 
Trailside Museums

•	 Fort Yellowstone; includes Norris 
and Bechler River soldier stations, 
and Roosevelt Arch. 

•	 Northeast Entrance Station

•	 Obsidian Cliff Archeological Site

•	 Old Faithful Inn

•	 Lake Hotel

National Historic Landmarks are 
nationally significant historic places 
designated by the Secretary of the 
Interior because they possess exceptional 
value or quality in illustrating or 
interpreting the heritage of the United 
States. Today, fewer than 2,500 historic 
places bear this national designation.

•	 District: A significant 
concentration, linkage, or 
continuity of sites, buildings, 
structures, or objects that are 
historically or aesthetically united 
by a plan or physical development. 
Examples: residential areas, large 
forts, rural villages, canal systems, 
and large landscaped parks.

•	 Building and Structure: 
Construction that includes those 
that create human shelter. The 
units may be a historically and 
functionally related unit, such as 
a courthouse and jail or a house 
and barn. Examples: houses, barns, 
garages, churches, hotels, bridges, 
tunnels, fire towers, silos, roadways.

•	 Site: The location of a significant 
event where a historic occupation 
or activity occurred. It may be the 
site of a building or structure which 
is no longer standing or which 
exists only as a ruin. Examples: 
village sites, battlefields, ruins of 
historic buildings and structures, 
campsites, sites of treaty signing, 
trails, and natural features, such as 
springs and rock formations.

The Geyser Baths Bathhouse, opened in 1914, was a 
swimming pool at Old Faithful and was razed in the 
1950s. Historic structures and the historical character of 
the park are carefully considered in park planning.
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Lake Hotel, 1891
The Lake Hotel is the oldest operating hotel in the 
park. When it opened in 1891, the building resem-
bled other hotels financed by the Northern Pacific 
Railroad. In 1903, the architect of the Old Faithful 
Inn, Robert Reamer, designed the Ionic columns, 
extended the roof in three places, and added the 15 
false balconies, which caused it to be known for years 
as the “Lake Colonial Hotel.” By 1929, additional 
changes—dining room, porte-cochere (portico), 
sunroom, plus interior refurbishing—created the 
landmark we see today.

Yellowstone Lake Fish Hatchery, 1930
People began stocking western high-elevation 
lakes with fish in the 1800s. Hatchery operations at 
Yellowstone Lake became part of this undertaking 
when fish hatched from Yellowstone’s trout were 
used to stock waters in the park and elsewhere, sport-
fishing was promoted to encourage park visitation, 
and satisfying a recreational interest took precedence 
over protection of the park’s natural ecology. Built 
in 1930 by the National Park Service, the hatchery’s 
log-framed design is also an example of the period of 
rustic architectural design in national parks.

The hatchery was thought to be among the most 
modern in the West. The main room was outfitted 
with tanks and raceways for eggs, fingerlings, and 
brood fish taken from 11 streams that flowed into the 
lake. Small fry were fed in three rectangular rearing 
ponds in a nearby creek until they were ready for 
planting. Superintendent Horace Albright explained 
that the hatchery had also been designed with visi-
tor education in mind, by making it possible “to take 
large crowds through the building under the guid-
ance of a ranger naturalist without in any way impair-
ing the operations of the Bureau of Fisheries.”

Yellowstone was the largest supplier of wild 
cutthroat trout eggs in the United States, and its 
waters received native and nonnative fish. A rift 
developed, however, between the federal fish agen-
cies and the National Park Service, which began 
moving away from policies that allowed manipula-
tion of Yellowstone’s natural conditions. In 1936 
Yellowstone managers prohibited the distribution of 
nonnative fish in waters that did not yet have them 
and opposed further hatchery constructions in the 
park’s lakes and streams. After research showed that 
it impaired fish reproduction, egg collection was 
curtailed in 1953. Four years later, the fish hatchery 

ceased operations and the US Fish and Wildlife 
Service transferred ownership of the building to the 
National Park Service. Official stocking of park wa-
ters ended by 1959.

Current Status

Vegetation and stream flow have largely reclaimed 
the rearing ponds on Hatchery Creek, but their 
outlines can still be detected, and the most serious 
results of fish planting are irreversible. Nonnative 
fish can alter aquatic ecology through interbreed-
ing or competition with native species. Although its 
condition has deteriorated, the hatchery building has 
changed relatively little. Nearly all of the exterior and 
interior materials are original to the building or have 
been repaired in kind. Now used as a storage facil-
ity, it is the primary structure of the nine buildings in 
the Lake Fish Hatchery Historic District, which was 
listed on the National Register in 1985.

Lake Hotel resembled other hotels financed by the 
Northern Pacific Railroad when it opened in 1891.

Fishing has a long history as a recreation interest 
in Yellowstone. The Lake Fish Hatchery produced 
trout that were used to stock waters in the park and 
elsewhere.
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Mammoth Hot Springs Historic District and 
Fort Yellowstone Historic Landmark District
The Mammoth Hot Springs Historic District includes 
Fort Yellowstone, where 35 structures remain from 
the 1890s and early 1900s when the US Army ad-
ministered the park. Significant conservation poli-
cies were developed here that led to the origin of the 
National Park Service. The Mammoth Hot Springs 
Historic District has statewide significance as the 
administrative and concession headquarters of the 
largest national park in Wyoming. Fort Yellowstone is 
also listed as a National Historic Landmark District, 
the highest designation.

Mail Carrier’s Cabin, 1800s
The origins of the building at the edge of Fort 
Yellowstone that became known as the mail car-
rier’s house are a matter of debate, but it is signifi-
cant as the only 1800s log structure still standing 
in Mammoth Hot Springs. Its rustic style is more 
typical of construction of the area and time than 
are the buildings put up by the US Army for Fort 
Yellowstone. It was probably built in the mid-1890s, 
and over the years it has provided quarters for mail 
carriers as well as employees of concessions and the 
National Park Service.

History

When mail delivery was not yet provided in rural 
areas, mail carriers delivered the mail from railroad 
distribution points to post offices, where people 
traveled, often from many miles away, to pick up their 
mail, their only link to the rest of the world. In the 
1800s, a mail carrier was contracted to transport mail 
from the railroad station in Livingston, Montana, 
to Mammoth Hot Springs and then to Cooke City, 

Montana, before returning to Livingston, a trip of 
several days’ duration.

The cabin was either built by or later sold to 
an early park concession, the Yellowstone Park 
Association. A lean-to with a shed roof was built onto 
the back of the two-room structure in about 1903 
to serve as a kitchen and dining area. In the 1930s, 
a mudroom and bathroom were added to the north 
side of the building, bringing the total square footage 
to 512. In the early 2000s, removal of the insulation 
added to the walls and ceilings in the 1930s exposed 
a layer of newspapers beneath, announcing the 1903 
flight of the Wright Brothers at Kittyhawk. 

In 1972, the building, then owned by a park con-
cessioner, was “in a state of general deterioration.” 
Historic structure experts recommended that the va-
cant house be demolished because they doubted that 
it “could serve any useful function” that would justify 
the “great cost” of restoration. However, the house 
was listed on the National Register in 1982. Despite 
the building’s poor condition, it continued to house 
park staff for another two decades.

The mail carrier’s house, built around 1895, photographed at an unknown date (left) and in 2009 (right).

Albright Visitor Center, part of the Mammoth Hot 
Springs Historic District and Fort Yellowstone Historic 
Landmark District, housed the first “information 
office” (visitor center). 



36  Yellowstone Resources and Issues Handbook, 2016

P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N

Mammoth Post Office, 1938
Yellowstone’s main post office was one of 1,007 
post offices constructed from 1935 to 1938 “with 
a view to relieving countrywide unemployment.” 
Using standardized plans developed from guidelines 
provided by the Treasury Department, these post of-
fices were built in sizes and styles that reflect transi-
tions in architectural design and the context of the 
communities in which the offices were located. The 
Yellowstone Post Office is a concrete building with 
a hipped roof in the French Renaissance Moderne 
style, compatible with the Art Moderne style orna-
ment on the nearby Mammoth Hot Springs Hotel, 
which was partially rebuilt in 1936. The post office 
lobby has walls of travertine from a quarry outside 
the park’s north entrance.

Current Status

The Yellowstone post office was listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places in 1987 with 11 
other Wyoming post offices built from 1908 to 1939. 
The buildings were said to “record the evolution of 
both the political/economic philosophies and the de-
sign philosophies of the federal government” during 
a period when building design was used “to provide 
a symbol of the monumental presence of the federal 
government in its post offices.”

Roosevelt Arch, 1903
The road (five miles in length) from the park’s 
boundary at Gardiner, Montana, to its head-
quarters at Mammoth Hot Springs, Wyoming, 
was built in 1884. The arch constructed over the 
road became known as Roosevelt Arch because 
President Theodore Roosevelt, who happened to 

be vacationing in the park, spoke at the ceremony 
to lay the cornerstone in 1903. The plaque on the 
arch is inscribed with a phrase from the legislation 
that established Yellowstone National Park: “For the 
benefit and enjoyment of the people.” Today it would 
be considered inappropriate to embellish the park’s 
landscape with such a conspicuous, non-functional 
structure, but Roosevelt Arch continues to serve as 
a historical marker for a time when cultural values 
called for a monumental entrance to Yellowstone.

The Roosevelt Arch is in the North Entrance Road 
Historic District and is part of the Fort Yellowstone 
Historic Landmark District. The structure was con-
ceived by US Engineer Hiram Chittenden; Robert 
Reamer may have contributed to the design, and 
architect N.J. Ness also worked on it. 

The two bears at the post office entrance were added 
in 1941 and commissioned by the Federal Works 
Agency to enhance federal buildings with artwork. 
Gladys Caldwell Fisher sculpted the cubs from Indiana 
limestone based on her observations of grizzly bears 
at one of the feeding grounds then permitted in the 
park. The three-ton bears were shipped by rail from 
Denver to Gardiner, Montana.

The Roosevelt Arch, pictured here on a Haynes 
postcard.
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The Old Faithful Historic District, which includes the inn and many of the surrounding buildings, was listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places in 1982. 

Old Faithful Historic District
The Old Faithful Historic District, which includes 
the inn and many of the surrounding buildings, was 
listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 
1982. Like the Inn, the district is historically signifi-
cant because of its rustic architecture and its role in 
the development of concessions to accommodate 
growing tourism in the early 1900s. The Old Faithful 
Lodge, located near the Inn, reached its present 
configuration in 1928 after numerous changes. The 
consolidation into one complex was designed by 
Gilbert Stanley Underwood, a famous architect.

Old Faithful Inn, 1904
Named for the geyser near which its construction 
began in 1903, the Old Faithful Inn exemplifies the 
use of rustic architecture at a large scale to comple-
ment a natural landscape. The rhyolite that formed 
Yellowstone’s caldera during volcanic upheavals 
provided the stone for the building’s foundation, 
and local lodgepole pine the logs for its walls. Skilled 
craftsmen embellished the windows and stairways 

with gnarled wood selected for its inherent beauty. 
As designed by architect Robert Reamer, the inn 
combines rugged materials and organic motifs 
in a way that expresses both frontier sensibilities 
and elegance.

History

After the only hotel in the Upper Geyser Basin 
burned down in 1894, park officials pressured the 
Yellowstone Park Association, which held the lease 
on the property, to replace it with something more 
substantial. In 1902 the president of the concession, 
Harry Child, obtained financing from the Northern 
Pacific Railroad for a new structure, the first parts of 
which would become known as the Old House. The 
lobby, rising six stories beneath a steeply sloped roof, 
was flanked by a dining room and two three-story 
wings containing guest rooms.

The Old Faithful Inn opened in 1904, and was 
equipped with electric lighting, but Reamer designed 
the light fixtures to look like candlesticks. Both the 
electricity and the radiators were fueled by a steam 
generator. Evening meals were accompanied by a 
string quartet, and dancing was customary six nights 
a week. The east wing was added in 1913 and the 
west wing was added in 1927, both under Reamer’s 
supervision and bringing the inn’s total number of 
guest rooms to about 340.

The August 1959 Hebgen Lake earthquake shook 
the Old House from its foundation and damaged 
the roof and chimneys, but no guests were seriously 
injured, and after closing early for the winter, the inn 
opened the following summer. Another evacuation 
took place in September 1988 when the North Fork 
Fire destroyed some small buildings nearby, but the 
Old Faithful Inn was preserved with the help of fire-
fighters, roof sprinklers installed the previous year, 
and a shift in wind direction.

The roof shingles of the Old Faithful Inn, shown here 
in 1912, were originally coated with a red mineral 
paint believed to hinder flammability.
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Current Status

The Old Faithful Inn was designated a National 
Historic Landmark in 1987. A major renovation pro-
gram of the Old House was launched in 2004 to meet 
current building codes and restore the lobby so that 
it more closely replicates Reamer’s original design. 
The walls and roof were reinforced with steel to make 
the structure more seismically stable, and electrical, 
plumbing, and heating systems were replaced and 
made less conspicuous. With the completion of this 
program, the Old Faithful Inn is considered to be in 
good condition.

Queen’s Laundry Bathhouse, 1881
On a sinter slope in the Lower Geyser Basin miles 
from any other structure, the bathhouse at Queen’s 
Laundry spring was one of two buildings constructed 
by Superintendent Philetus Norris in 1881. It is 
the only building that remains from the first era of 
civilian park administration (1872–1886) and the 
first building in a national park constructed by the 
government for public use. According to its National 
Register listing, the Queen’s Laundry bathhouse 
represents the “earliest recognition that providing for 
visitor accommodation was a legitimate use of federal 
funds within a National Park.” It also turned out to 
be the first step toward what became a conflict be-
tween accommodating visitors and leaving the park’s 
thermal features intact.

The roofless bathhouse is located on the edge of 
a sinter mound formed by the Queen’s Laundry (hot 
spring), where deposition from the pool’s run-off 
has engulfed it. The pine logs used to construct the 
building have been partially preserved by the silica 
and other minerals from the water that has perme-
ated them. There is no evidence of a floor, but it may 
be buried beneath the silica deposits.

The Queen’s Laundry Bathhouse, shown here in 1995, 
was never finished and never demolished.

Historic preservation has maintained the appearance 
and condition of the famous Old Faithful Inn lobby, 
shown here in the first half of the 1900s (top) and in 
2003 (bottom).
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Lamar Buffalo Ranch Historic District, 1906
The extermination of bison herds throughout the 
West in the 1800s nearly eliminated them from 
Yellowstone; even after the park was established in 
1872 poachers faced few deterrents. With only 25 
bison counted in the park in 1901, Congress appro-
priated $15,000 to augment the herd by purchasing 
21 bison from private owners. As part of the first 
effort to preserve a wild species through intensive 
management, these bison were fed and bred in Lamar 
Valley at what became known as the Buffalo Ranch. 

As the herd grew in size, it was released to breed 
with the park’s free-roaming population and used 
to start and supplement herds on other public and 
tribal land. Today the Yellowstone bison population 
of approximately 4,000 is one of the largest in North 
America and among the few that is genetically pure 
because it has not been interbred with cattle. The 
buffalo ranch is therefore significant for its role in the 
history of wildlife management and the preservation 
of the American bison.

Current Status

A program to raise bison like domestic cattle in 
Yellowstone may seem incongruous and unneces-
sary in retrospect, but the buffalo ranch stands as a 
reminder that today’s well-intended wildlife manage-
ment policies may have unintended consequences 
and be overturned by changing values and advances 
in ecological knowledge. 

As listed on the National Register of Historic 
Places, the Lamar Buffalo Ranch Historic District in-
cludes five buildings: a ranger station, constructed in 
1915 as the buffalo keeper’s residence; a pole fenced 
corral built and rebuilt from 1915 to the 1930s, a log 
barn for hay and horses (1927), a bunkhouse (1929), 

and a residence used for the assistant buffalo keeper 
that was moved to the ranch in 1938 from Soda 
Butte, where it had probably been a ranger station. 
The vegetation around the ranch is mostly sagebrush 
and nonnative grasses that were planted during the 
period of hay cultivation or migrated into the area. 
Remnants of irrigation ditches, fencing, and water 
troughs can still be found.

The bunkhouse, its interior remodeled, is used 
by the Yellowstone Association Institute, which 
conducts classes and seminars during the summer 
and by Expedition Yellowstone, the Division of 
Resource Education and Youth Programs’ overnight 
program for school groups. In 1993 the Yellowstone 
Association replaced the old tourist cabins, brought 
from Fishing Bridge in the early 1980s, with insulated 
and heated cabins for participants in its programs. 
But except for the phone line, the cabins and other 
buffalo ranch facilities are off grid. 

The main source of power is a 7-kilowatt photo 
voltaic array installed in 2000 with industrial battery 
storage and two alternating 12-kilowatt engine gen-
erators. In the summer of 2006, the Buffalo Ranch’s 
hybrid power system operated entirely on renewable 
energy by using vegetable-based fuel instead of pro-
pane for the generators.

Funding from the Yellowstone Park Foundation is 
enabling the National Park Service to use the buffalo 
ranch as a model for off-grid environmental steward-
ship by adding more solar panels, low-flow water 
fixtures, micro-hydropower, on-demand hot water, 
zero-waste and recycling programs, and more en-
ergy-efficient windows, while preserving the histori-
cal integrity of the original structures.

Bison calf butting park ranger at the buffalo ranch, 
1930s.

The Lamar Buffalo Ranch, in operation from 1906 until 
the 1950s, was the center of efforts to increase the 
herd size of bison in Yellowstone.
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Roosevelt Lodge Historic District
The Roosevelt Lodge Historic District, which in-
cludes 130 buildings, was listed on the National 
Register of Historic Places in 1983, with a period of 
significance from 1906 to 1948. The accommodations 
are still rustic, with unpaved roads into and around 
the lodge and cabins. Although the Grand Loop Road 
can be seen from the corral, which is not part of the 
historic district, it is obscured from view of the lodge 
and most of the cabins by a stand of mature trees. 

The area has undergone intermittent expansion 
and changes as visitor use has changed and facilities 
have aged over the years. The architectural appear-
ance of the original lodge is retained only in the inte-
rior and exterior of the front portion (the lounge and 
dining room); the other sections of the building have 
been modified. The interior has become congested 
with multiple activities, some of which were not part 
of the original building—a bar, vending machines, gift 
shop, and offices.

In 2009, the National Park Service completed an 
environmental assessment for the Tower–Roosevelt 
area to set limits on the kind, location, and amount 
of development that will occur there in order to 
protect the area’s natural resources and preserve its 
historical character, including the rustic architecture 
of Roosevelt Lodge and the small cabins, the ar-
rangement of the lodge and cabins around a grassy 
meadow, and the view from the lodge porch across 
the meadow to the distant mountains. The plan also 
calls for pulling the parking lot away to improve 
views and reduce congestion near the lodge.

Roosevelt Lodge, 1920
Indians, fur trappers, and explorers on the Bannock 
Trail camped in this area where a sagebrush meadow 

was encircled by Douglas fir, quaking aspen, 
and a mountain stream that tumbled toward the 
Yellowstone River. President Chester Arthur camped 
here in 1883. In 1906, the Wylie Permanent Camping 
Company built a tent camp there that became known 
as “Camp Roosevelt,” though Theodore Roosevelt 
never camped there. The tents were replaced by a 
lodge and cabins in the 1920s, and Lost Creek has 
shifted course, but people still enjoy staying at this 
scenic spot on the park’s northern range.

For Dudes and Scientists

Camp Roosevelt’s location provided an overnight 
stop for visitors traveling between Mammoth Hot 
Springs and Canyon. As at other Wylie camps, guests 
slept in striped tents with wood floors, gathered at 
a larger tent for communal meals and sing-alongs, 
and were transported around the park in the Wylie 
company’s vehicles. The successor to the Wylie com-
pany, the Yellowstone Park Camping Company, built 
the park’s first and smallest lodge at Camp Roosevelt 
in 1919. The lodges were built to accommodate the 
increasing number of visitors arriving in their own 
automobiles who wanted something more than a 
tent but less expensive and formal than the park’s 
hotels. During the 1920s and 1930s, the old hotels 
often stood empty while the new lodges overflowed 
with visitors.

At Camp Roosevelt, the concessioners wanted 
to create the atmosphere of a dude ranch, and 
Superintendent Horace Albright described it as “a 
place visitors would like to stay indefinitely.” It did 
provide a base for fishing parties and saddle-horse 
trips, but it was also expected to serve as a field 
laboratory where teachers and their students could 
conduct research at minimum expense, a purpose 

The Roosevelt Lodge before it faced a parking lot 
(Haynes postcard, 1927).
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that the first director of the National Park Service, 
Stephen Mather, was promoting for the parks. In 
what was a forerunner to the educational programs 
found in the parks today, the National Park Service 
hired H.S. Conard, a naturalist at Grinnell College, 
to present lectures and conduct daily field trips 
for Camp Roosevelt visitors and collect botanical 
specimens for the park museum. Scientists based at 
the hotel conducted studies on the park’s wildlife. 
From 1921 to 1923, the lodge was the headquarters 
for a boy’s summer camp run by Alvin Whitney of 
the New York State School of Forestry at Syracuse 
University.

The Buildings

The lodge, constructed of unpeeled logs and com-
pleted in 1920, was originally surrounded by 43 small 
log cabins, the first of which were completed in 1922. 
Over the years, the Roosevelt Lodge area became a 
repository for guest cabins brought from areas in the 
park where they were no longer wanted. By 1982, the 
corral had been moved farther from the cabins, of 
which there were now 110 of four main types.

Northeast Entrance, 1935
The entrance station and ranger residence at 
Yellowstone’s northeast entrance were constructed 
in 1935 in a rustic style that was becoming emblem-
atic of national park architecture. According to its 
listing as a National Historic Landmark in 1987, the 
entrance station “subconsciously reinforced the visi-
tor’s sense of the western frontier and the wilderness 
he was about to enter. The building was not only the 
physical boundary, but the psychological boundary 
between the rest of the world and what was set aside 
as a permanently wild place.” The station is consid-
ered “the best of its type remaining in the National 
Park System.”

The entrance station was constructed with two 
traffic lanes passing through it. When it became 
necessary to accommodate the increasing number of 
recreation vehicles too tall to fit in the passage, a lane 
was added to each side of the building rather than 
alter it. These drivers must walk around to the check-
ing station office, but the system is workable because 
of the relatively low volume of traffic at the entrance. 

The station is currently considered to be in good 
condition. Extensive rehabilitation of the entrance 
station in 1984 repaired log ends with epoxy and 
replaced log rafters and the roof. The oakum rope 
chinking remains. Two street lights and a flagpole 
were added, and concrete bollards were placed on 
the east and west side to prevent vehicles from driv-
ing into the building. The interior of the checking 
station has undergone little change over the years. 
Although the original plans called for earth floors, 
the rooms have concrete floors that were probably 
poured sometime after construction. The original 
wood stove that heated the central portion of the 
station was replaced with an oil stove in the same 
location.

Northeast Entrance station is considered “the best of 
its type remaining in the National Park Service.”

Roosevelt Lodge interior with photograph of Theodore 
Roosevelt, 1920s.
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Historic Roads, 1905
The road construction that began in Yellowstone in 
the 1870s became the United States’ first large-scale 
road plan and served as a model for other parks, 
especially in its use of local materials. Even after 
Yellowstone could be reached by train in 1883, the 
difficulty of transport and road construction in a geo-
logically and climatically challenging terrain required 
enormous labor and innovative engineering. The de-
velopment of a road system was essential in making 
Yellowstone more accessible to the public. Over the 
years, advances in road standards and construction 
technology have led to changes in the roads’ appear-
ance, but the overall design has remained largely 
intact, along with many historical features such as 
bridges, culverts, and guardrails.

Hiram Chittenden

The 300-mile, figure-eight road system that con-
nects Yellowstone’s five entrances, developed areas, 
and major attractions remains largely the same as 
when engineer Major Hiram Chittenden finished 
his work on it in 1905. Through his role in designing 
Yellowstone’s roads, bridges, and other structures, 
Chittenden had a lasting effect on the appearance 
of our national parks. While stating that they should 
be maintained “as nearly as possible in their natural 
condition, unchanged by the hand of man,” he would 
use masonry and add or remove trees and other 
landscaping so that “the roads will themselves be 
made one of the interesting features of this interest-
ing region.”

Throughout the park, he replaced many wooden 
bridges with steel or concrete. His most difficult 
project was the replacement of the rickety trestle at 
Golden Gate with a 200-foot viaduct, a series of 11 
concrete arches built into the cliff wall over a can-
yon. In 1902 he persuaded Congress to make the 
appropriation needed to complete the park’s road 
system. This included some of Chittenden’s signature 
achievements: the road over Sylvan Pass, the road to 
Mount Washburn (now called Chittenden Road), 
and the bridge over the Yellowstone River above 
the Upper Falls, which at last provided a means of 
getting to the east bank of the river without going all 
the way north to Baronett’s bridge. Over the years, 
the Golden Gate viaduct had to be reconstructed, 
and the bridge over the Yellowstone River was con-
demned in 1959. A campaign to preserve the original 
bridge by building the new Chittenden Memorial 
Bridge in a different place was thwarted by the 
discovery that Chittenden had used the only logical 
location.

Before leaving Yellowstone in 1906, Chittenden 
was also responsible for overseeing the redesign of 
the park’s north entrance, including construction of 
the arch and, through irrigation, fertilization, and the 
planting of alfalfa, transforming 50 acres adjacent to 
Gardiner into a green field that would provide winter 
forage for pronghorn and other game animals. Today, 
efforts are being made to restore the field to its natu-
ral condition, but the Roosevelt Arch endures.

Touring the Park

At first, travel to and within the park was difficult. 
Visitors had to transport themselves or patronize a costly 
transportation enterprise. In the park, they found only a 
few places for food and lodging. Access improved in 1883 
when the Northern Pacific Railroad reached Cinnabar, 
Montana, a town near the north entrance. 

A typical tour began when visitors descended from the 
train in Cinnabar, boarded large “tally ho” stagecoaches 
(above), and headed up the scenic Gardner Canyon to 
Mammoth Hot Springs. After checking into the hotel, 
they toured the hot springs. For the next four days, they 
bounced along in passenger coaches called “Yellowstone 
wagons,” which had to be unloaded at steep grades. Each 
night visitors enjoyed a warm bed and a lavish meal at a 
grand hotel. 

These visitors carried home unforgettable memories 
of experiences and sights, and they wrote hundreds of 
accounts of their trips. They recommended the tour to 
their friends, and each year more came to Yellowstone 
to see its wonders. When the first automobile entered in 
1915, Yellowstone truly became a national park, accessible 
to anyone who could afford a car.
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Trailside Museums (1929–1932)
The museums at Fishing Bridge, Madison Junction, 
and Norris Geyser Basin were designated National 
Historic Landmarks in 1982 because their exagger-
ated features and organic forms exemplify rustic 
design in the national parks and served as models for 
hundreds of park buildings constructed during work 
relief programs of the 1930s. As envisioned by the 
chairman of the American Association of Museums, 
Hermon Bumpus, they also established the idea of 
“trailside museums’’ where visitors could learn about 
an area within a park. Bumpus regarded national 
parks as “roofless museums of nature” with unla-
beled exhibits and the trailside museum as the place 
to provide the labels.

Designed by Herbert Maier in a style that be-
came known as “Parkitecture,” the museums have 
the battered rubble masonry and clipped gables of a 
traditional bungalow style, but use locally available 
materials left in their natural condition to reflect the 
scale and roughness of the landscape. The asymmet-
rical boulders and gnarled logs display the irregulari-
ties of nature. Maier, who also designed museums for 
Grand Canyon and Yosemite, regarded buildings in 
national parks as “necessary evils” because even the 
best was “somewhat of an intruder.” Their National 
Register nomination described the trailside museums 
as “a perfect solution for an architecture appropriate 
to the outdoors: informal through the use of natural 
materials and horizontal lines,” but with “a strength 
of design and heavy-handed expressions” that “sug-
gested the smallness of man in relation to nature.”

History

In 1928, Yellowstone Superintendent Horace 
Albright proposed the construction of “small local 
museums” to provide visitors with information that 
would “make their sojourn educationally as well as 
recreationally profitable.” With a grant from a foun-
dation set up by John D. Rockefeller and the guid-
ance of Dr. Bumpus, the American Association of 
Museums built four such museums in Yellowstone. 

The Museum of Thermal Activity, constructed 
at Old Faithful in 1929, was razed and replaced by a 
visitor center in 1971. It opened in 1929 to acclaim 
for its quality materials and construction, and for the 
way it blended into its surroundings. The exteriors 
of the other museums have changed little since their 
completion by 1932, but the interiors have undergone 
small and large alterations in design and use.

In a 1942 report, park naturalist Bert Long 
pointed out that “due to lack of funds,” there were 
“many obvious gaps and inadequately told phases” of 
the Yellowstone story as told in its museums, and that 
many of the exhibits contained obsolete scientific 
theories. “Every attempt should be made to include 
in each museum information pointing out what there 
is to do of a recreational nature in its surroundings,” 
Long urged. “Get the people out of their cars, on the 
trails to the features and half the battle is more than 
won.” The difficulty of funding and keeping exhibits 
up to date has not lessened over the years, nor has 
the goal of getting people out of their cars changed, 
but the efforts to do so have. Only the Norris Geyser 
Basin Museum still has its original name.

Fishing Bridge Museum, 1932

Now called the Fishing Bridge Visitor Center, the 
building was designed so that visitors approach-
ing from the parking lot could see through it to 
Yellowstone Lake, where stone steps lead down to 
the shore. In 1933, Superintendent Roger Toll com-
plained that the irregular steps at the Norris and 
Fishing Bridge museums were “unsatisfactory for 
the considerable number of people that use these 
museums.” He asked the park’s landscape architect 
to “take advantage of this experience and not use any 
more native stone for the treads in park buildings.” 
Some of the stone steps at the Fishing Bridge Visitor 
Center have been replaced by rounded concrete steps 
and a ramp for accessibility. 

Antlers, rams’ horns, and bighorn sheep skulls still 
decorate the two wrought-iron chandeliers, but they 
were removed from the log frame around the screen 
in the adjacent amphitheater, where the original log 
seats were replaced with thick plank seats. No longer 

The Fishing Bridge Visitor Center and Museum, 2007.
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used, the fireplace beneath the large stone chimney 
is concealed from public view in a small area used 
for offices. Other changes include the linoleum tiles 
over the concrete floor, fluorescent lighting, plywood 
covers on some of the windows to allow removable 
walls for the exhibits, and replacement of the win-
dow glass with green plastic to accommodate lighting 
for exhibits.

Norris Museum, 1930

The open foyer through the middle of the Norris 
Museum still functions as the visitor’s gateway to the 
Norris Geyser Basin. One of the two rooms on either 
side of the foyer originally contained bird speci-
mens; both now have exhibits explaining geothermal 
activity and life in thermal areas. Also designed by 
Maier with rustic architectural features, the nearby 
comfort station, as it was then called, was converted 
to a Yellowstone Association bookstore after a larger 
restroom of more contemporary style was built closer 
to the parking lot.

Madison Museum, 1930

Overlooking a meadow beyond which the Gibbon 
and Firehole rivers join to form the Madison River, 
the Madison Museum was intended to focus on park 
history, especially the nearby site where the 1870 
Washburn expedition was thought to have origi-
nated the idea of a national park as a way to protect 
the thermal areas from commercial development. In 
accordance with Bumpus’s vision of the museum’s 
“function as a national monument,” a large glass 
transparency created from a 1930 photograph was 
placed prominently in a window where the light 
shone through a re-enactment of the Washburn party 
gathered around a campfire.

In 1940, a park naturalist suggested that the main 

room’s floor, made of large, uneven pieces of rhyo-
lite, should be covered with oak or pine to “avoid 
possible hazards to visitors from stumbling falls” 
and make it easier to clean. That did not happen, 
but when the building was transformed into the 
“Explorers’ Museum” as part of Yellowstone’s 1972 
centennial celebration, carpeting and track light-
ing were installed, the wood stove that used to heat 
the building was removed, and the exhibits were 
redesigned. 

In acknowledgement of evidence long put forth by 
historian Aubrey Haines that refuted the “campfire 
story,” the re-enactment transparency and refer-
ences to the Washburn party’s role in establishing the 
first national park were removed from the museum. 
However, in deference to Albright, still influential in 
retirement, and National Park Service officials who 
would not abandon the story, the purported camp-
fire discussion was commemorated in a sign placed 
outside the museum: “…there emerged an idea...
that there should be no private ownership of these 
wonders but that the area should be preserved for 
public enjoyment.” The sign is still there, but by 1975 
the museum was unstaffed and vandalized. 

What remained of the exhibits was removed and 
the building was vacant until 1991, when it became 
home to an “Artists in Residence” program for sev-
eral years. Since 1995, the Yellowstone Association 
has had a bookstore there, and what is now called the 
“Madison Information Station” also bears a “Junior 
Ranger Station” sign, making it a stop for those earn-
ing their badges.

The Norris Geyser Basin Museum, 2009. The Madison Information Station, 2009.
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Haynes Photo Shops
As leaders in concessions development in 
Yellowstone from 1884 to 1962, Frank Jay Haynes 
and his son Jack Ellis Haynes constructed many 
buildings for their enterprises. Among the few that 
remain, the Haynes stores at Old Faithful (1927) and 
in Mammoth Hot Springs (1929) were most impor-
tant to the primary business of taking, developing, 
and selling photographs. By helping Yellowstone gain 
international recognition for its natural wonders, the 
Haynes’ photography promoted both tourism in the 
West and the idea of a national park. 

The Old Faithful building is an example of the rus-
tic style that was becoming popular in western parks, 
while the Mammoth building displays a transitional 
architectural style influenced by the Crafts move-
ment, a departure from more traditional revival styles 
prevalent in Mammoth that was unrelated to the 
rustic architecture prevalent elsewhere in the park.

History

F. Jay Haynes first photographed Yellowstone 
National Park in 1881 to publicize the Northern 
Pacific Railroad. Encouraged by Superintendent 
Philetus Norris, who wanted to promote park visita-
tion, Haynes built stores on land leased in Mammoth 
Hot Springs in 1884 and at Old Faithful in 1897. After 
he retired, his son Jack took over the business, and 
in 1927 built stores, called photo or picture shops, in 
the Mammoth and Fishing Bridge campgrounds, and 
a larger facility near what was then the Old Faithful 
Auto Camp. Eventually, 13 Haynes stores were 
opened in hotels or their own buildings.

The 1927 Old Faithful store, designed and con-
structed in two months by contractor George Larkin, 
had living quarters on the second floor over a photo 
finishing operation as well as a retail shop. A two-
story dormitory for Haynes employees was added 
in 1951, and an addition to the rear of the building 
several years later.

The Mammoth Hot Springs facility, designed by 
Fred Willson and completed in 1929, served as the 
headquarters for the Haynes photographic business 
in the park. It included a dormitory, an overnight 
photo finishing service, and retail space that carried 
an assortment of photographs, books, camera film 
and other supplies. The drive-through canopy ac-
knowledged the growing influence of the automobile 
on architectural design.

Current Status

Jack Haynes operated the family business until his 
death in 1962. After running the company for an-
other five years, his wife Isabel sold it to Hamilton 
Stores, owned by the Povah family. After most of 
the Old Faithful building was moved in three pieces 
and reconfigured near the newly constructed Snow 
Lodge in 1971, Hamilton Stores renovated the dormi-
tory and added a front porch. Nearly all of the ex-
terior materials on the original store are still present 
or have been replaced in-kind. By 1998, the original 
Snow Lodge had been razed and a new Snow Lodge 
opened immediately adjacent to the Hamilton Store.

When the Hamilton Stores contract expired in 
1999, the National Park Service purchased the build-
ings at Old Faithful and Mammoth. The Old Faithful 
store detracted from the appearance of the new 
Snow Lodge, and after considering several alterna-
tives, in 2009 the National Park Service dismantled 
the dormitory and moved the original portion of 
the building to a site near its original location. The 
Yellowstone Park Foundation now occupies the old 
Photo Shop with a small museum and offices. Its for-
mer site has been landscaped as public open space.

Except for the stairway, nearly all of the exterior 
materials in the Mammoth building are original. 
Finishes and fixtures in the kitchen and bathrooms 
date from the 1950s to the 1970s; most of the other 
interior materials are original. Although the National 
Park Service is currently using it as a storage facil-
ity, offices will be put in for park concessioners at a 
future date.

From a Haynes postcard of the Haynes Picture Shops 
Headquarters at Mammoth Hot Springs, 1934.
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Lodging No Longer Standing
Marshall’s Hotel, which stood near the present-day 
intersection of Fountain Flats Drive and Grand Loop 
Road, was built in 1880 and was the second hotel in 
the park. Later renamed the Firehole Hotel, it was 
mostly razed in 1895, with other buildings removed 
later.

Fountain Hotel opened in 1891 north of Fountain 
Paint Pot. This was one of the first Yellowstone hotels 
where bears were fed for the entertainment of guests. 
The hotel closed after 1916 and was torn down 
in 1927.

Four lodging facilities were built at Norris. Three 
were built between 1886 and 1892; the first two 
burned. The last hotel at Norris, which overlooked 
Porcelain Basin, served the public from 1901 to 1917. 

Three hotels were built in succession at Canyon, 
the last being the largest hotel in the park. Sited 
where the horse stables are now, the Canyon Hotel 
was closed in 1958 due to financial and maintenance 
problems and burned in 1960.

These and other sites of former park facilities are 
historic archeological sites. They are studied and 
documented for what they reveal about past visitor 
use in the park.

More Information
Flather, B. Red Sowash and the Round Prairie Saloon 

Yellowstone Science 11(4).
Goss, R.V. Yellowstone’s first general store: A legacy of 

Jennie Henderson and her family. Yellowstone Science 
13(2).

Hert, Tamsen Emerson, Luxury in the wilderness. The Grand 
Canyon Hotel 1911–1960. Yellowstone Science 13(3).

Quinn, R. Overcoming Obscurity. The Yellowstone 
Architecture of Robert C. Reamer. Yellowstone Science 
12(2).

Reinhardt, K.W. Old Faithful Inn: Centennial of a beloved 
landmark. Yellowstone Science 12(2).

Rydell, K.L. and M.S. Culpin. 2006. Managing the “match-
less wonders”: A history of administrative development 
in Yellowstone National Park, 1872–1965, Edited by 
National Park Service, Yellowstone Center for Resources. 
Yellowstone National Park, Wyoming. 

Wheaton, R.L. Architecture of Yellowstone: A microcosm of 
American design. Yellowstone Science 8(4).

Whittlesey, L., and P. Schullery, The Roosevelt Arch: A 
centennial history of an American icon. Yellowstone 
Science 11(3).

Staff Reviewers
Tobin Roop, Chief of Cultural Resources
Lee Whittlesey, Historian

The Fountain Hotel (left) and Grand Canyon Hotel (right), shown here from Haynes postcards, are two of several 
hotels that are no longer standing in Yellowstone. 

Construction of Other Park Buildings

Lake General Store, 1920

Lake Ranger Station, 1922–23

Mammoth Chapel, 1912–13

Mammoth Gas Station, 1920

Old Faithful Gas Station (Lower), 1920, 1925

Old Faithful Lower General Store, 1897, 1921 addition

Old Faithful Upper General Store, 1929–30

South Entrance Ranger Station Duplex, 1928

Tower General Store, 1932

West Thumb Ranger Station 1925; now an information 
station
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Cultural Landscapes
Cultural landscapes are settings that human beings 
have created in the natural world. They are geo-
graphic areas that have been shaped by human ma-
nipulation of natural and cultural resources and are 
associated with historic events, people, or activities 
in the park. They reflect significance of the historic 
setting and recognize the influence of human beliefs 
and actions over time on the natural landscape. A 
cultural landscape is an indicator of cultural patterns, 
values, and heritage through the way the land is orga-
nized and divided, patterns of settlement, land use, 
circulation, and the types of structures that are built 
and their placement in the landscape.

Yellowstone National Park contains an array of 
landscapes that reflect the park’s history, develop-
ment patterns, and a changing relationship between 
people and the unique Yellowstone environment. In 
Yellowstone, these landscapes are often a physical 
record of the early and on-going efforts to balance 
resource preservation and facility development for 
public enjoyment. They include sites such as Artist 
Point and Apollinaris Spring and the landscape 
features and patterns that contribute to the character 
of the Roosevelt Lodge Historic District. They also 
include areas significant to Native American cultures, 
such as Obsidian Cliff and sacred sites. Yellowstone’s 
cultural landscapes are being inventoried to identify 
landscapes eligible for the National Register and to 
ensure new undertakings are compatible with them.

More Information
Barnosky, E. 1992. Confidence in the past: The practice and 

potential of wildlife paleoecology in Yellowstone (inter-
view). Yellowstone Science. 1(1).

Cannon, K. P. 1993. Paleoindian use of obsidian in the 
Greater Yellowstone area: New evidence of the mobility 
of early Yellowstone people. Yellowstone Science. 1(4). 

Dick, D.S., D.H. MacDonald, S. Seriff, and L.E. Maas. 2010. 
Cinnabar archaeology and history of Yellowstone’s lost 
train town. University of Montana, Yellowstone National 
Park, and the Rocky Mountain Cooperative Ecosystem 
Study Unit Cooperative Agreement. 

Doss, Paul K. and Amy Bleichroth. 2012. Following the path 
of stone. Yellowstone Science. 20(2). 

Frison, G.C. 1991. Prehistoric hunters of the High Plains. San 
Diego: Academic Press, 119–120.

Staff Reviewer
Zehra Osman, Landscape Architect

A popular overlook of the Lower Falls.
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Collections
Yellowstone’s collections document the cultural and 
natural history of the world’s first national park and 
the conditions of its resources. The historic collec-
tions document the park from pre-history through 
the present. The collections include objects and 
written records that document the history and sci-
ence of the park, changes in perception and meaning 
over time, and the interaction between people and 
nature. Specimens range from geologic and natural 
history to Native American and European American 
cultural materials. 

It is National Park Service policy to collect, pro-
tect, preserve, provide access to, and use objects, 
specimens, and archival and manuscript collec-
tions to aid understanding and advance knowledge. 
Collections play important roles in resource man-
agement, research, and education programs, and 
function as baseline databases for park natural and 
cultural resources.

With several million items, Yellowstone has one of 
the largest collections in the National Park Service. 
Yellowstone National Park’s collections grow con-
tinuously with the addition of archival records 
(generated mostly by National Park Service staff), 
archeological and natural science objects, important 
donations, and occasional purchases.

Heritage and Research Center
For years, the collections were housed in various 
locations within and outside of the park, where they 
were frequently threatened by flood, fire, environ-
mental degradation, theft, and inattention. With 
the opening of the Heritage and Research Center 
in 2005, the collections of “Wonderland” are finally 
housed together, with the exception of the historic 
vehicles, and their storage brought up to the stan-
dards demanded by the National Park Service, the 
American Alliance of Museums, and the National 
Archives and Records Administration.

Quick Facts

Numbers in Yellowstone
•	 More than 720,000 museum items, 

including 30 historic vehicles

•	 The archives housing several million 
records, including manuscripts, 
photos, maps, films, oral histories, 
administrative records, and 
scientific data that documents the 
natural and cultural resources of 
the park as well as its development 
and management

•	 A research library containing more 
than 20,000 books, periodicals, 
theses and dissertations, 
unpublished manuscripts, microfilm 
and other micrographic formats 
of historical newspapers and 
scrapbooks, brochures, technical 
reports, and audio visual material

Together, several million items, one of 
the largest in the National Park Service. 

Where to See
Gardiner, Montana

•	 The Heritage and Research Center 
is open Monday–Friday, 8 am–5 pm 
(except federal holidays); the public 
is welcome to tour the temporary 
exhibits located in the lobby.

•	 The library is open to the public 
Monday–Friday.

•	 The archives and museum 
collections may be accessed for 
research purposes by appointment. 

•	 Public tours may be available from 
June to September. Call (307) 344-
2264 to reserve a slot.

Conducting Collections Research
Researchers range from local high 
school students working on term papers 
to tourists re-tracing an ancestor’s 
visit, and from park staff developing 
education programs or researching  
 

climate change to filmmakers preparing 
a miniseries for PBS. 

Researchers are encouraged to complete 
their preliminary research at other 
archives, libraries, and/or museum 
collections with a broad topical focus 
before approaching the holdings of 
Yellowstone National Park. Yellowstone 
has limited reference staff and 
resources that must be made available 
to researchers whose work focuses on 
materials available only at the park. 
Access to materials is dependent upon 
their physical condition and the level of 
processing to date by the park staff. All 
research must be done on-site in the 
museum research room or the library 
reading room.

For more information, visit http:// 
www.nps.gov/yell/learn/historyculture/
collections.htm

The Heritage and Research Center houses Yellowstone’s 
museum collection, archives, and research library.
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Most of these items are kept in the Heritage and 
Research Center, which is located outside the park 
entrance in Gardiner, Montana. The Heritage and 
Research Center is a collections storage facility that 
also houses the park’s herbarium and archeology lab, 
and features small rotating exhibits in the lobby. 

Museum Collection
Yellowstone’s museum collection contains more 
than 720,000 items that, along with the archives and 
library collection, document the cultural and natural 
history of the park. The museum collection consists 
of natural history, archeological, and cultural objects, 
including obsidian points, skulls from the first wolves 
reintroduced in the park, Thomas Moran’s original 
watercolor field sketches, William Henry Jackson’s 
photographs, furniture from the historic hotels and 
other historic structures, and an extensive historic 
vehicle collection ranging from stagecoaches and 
wagons, through early buses and automobiles, to fire 
trucks and a snowmobile. 

The collection is used each year by park staff and 
other researchers looking for background informa-
tion on Yellowstone history, specific reference mate-
rial, and illustrations for commercial products, school 
programs, special events, and adult education. The 
televised series, “The National Parks: America’s Best 
Idea,” by Ken Burns contained hundreds of images 
from Yellowstone’s collections.

While the Heritage and Research Center does 
have some rotating exhibits in the lobby area, the 

facility was not designed to be a museum, but rather a 
research center and a state-of-the-art storage facil-
ity. With exception of some restricted collections, 
such as Thomas Moran’s original watercolor field 
sketches, William Henry Jackson’s photographs, and 
other rare or fragile items, the museum collections 
are accessible to researchers by appointment only 
and require at least 24-hours advanced notice.

Historic Vehicle Collection

Yellowstone National Park’s historic vehicle col-
lection currently includes thirty horse-drawn and 
motorized vehicles. They range from stagecoaches 
operated by the Yellowstone Park Transportation 
Company (later the Yellowstone Park Company) 
and Monida and Yellowstone Stage Company (later 
the Yellowstone-Western Stage Company), to early 
Yellowstone Park Transportation Company tour-
ing cars, buses, and service trucks, to National Park 
Service scooters and a fire engine. Also represented 
in the collection are numerous human-powered 
vehicles, including fire hose carts and handcarts, or 
“Mollys” used by hotel maids and bellmen. 

The vehicle collection is one of the largest in 
the National Park Service. Currently housed in 
an historic structure (a former Yellowstone Park 
Transportation Company structure built in 1925 to 
replace the original transportation facilities destroyed 
by fire), it is hoped that a more suitable storage/ex-
hibit facility will eventually be constructed, possibly 
as a wing of the Yellowstone Heritage and Research 
Center. The vehicle collection is currently not open 
to the public.

 The majority of the vehicles were received from 
TW Recreational Services, Inc. (successor of the 

One of more than 150 skulls and skeletal materials in 
the museum collection from the park’s Wolf Project, 
wolf 007F was released in Yellowstone in 1995 as a 
Rose Creek pup. She joined 002M from the Crystal 
Creek pack in 1996 to form the Leopold Pack, the first 
naturally formed pack of the new era. She was killed 
by wolves of the Geode Creek pack in 2002.

Yellowstone’s historic vehicle collection, one of the 
largest in the National Park Service, includes this 1917 
touring car.
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Yellowstone Park Company) in 1991. Others have 
been added to the collection (such as the Willys fire 
truck) when they became obsolete or surplus to 
National Park Service needs. Volunteers performed 
initial cleaning of the vehicles, and the Yellowstone 
Association and Yellowstone Park Foundation have 
also provided funding for preservation and conserva-
tion efforts. 

More recently, some federal funding was provided 
for extensive preventative conservation treatment 
(cleaning and stabilizing some of the vehicles) by 
National Park Service staff. Some of the vehicles have 
been loaned to other museums and institutions for 
special exhibits, and the entire collection was the 
focus of a segment in “Hidden Yellowstone,” a film 
aired by the Discovery Channel.

Archives
The Yellowstone National Park archives house re-
cords that document natural and cultural resources 
of the park as well as how the national park idea 
developed after Yellowstone’s establishment, how 
policies for managing the world’s first national park 
were developed, and how they continue to develop 
today. The Yellowstone Archives is an affiliate of the 
US National Archives and Records Administration 
and houses a unique record of physical and admin-
istrative development beginning with early civilian 
superintendents and pioneer entrepreneurs, through 
the turn-of-the-century military era, to the founding 
and development of the National Park Service.

The collections include documents from the 
military administration of the park (1886–1918), 
administrative records from the establishment of the 

National Park Service (1916) to the present, resource 
management records that document how the natu-
ral and cultural resources are protected, records of 
major projects that have occurred in the park, the re-
cords of park concessioners such as the Yellowstone 
Park Company, and donated manuscripts. The 
collection also contains historic maps, photographs, 
films, oral histories, administrative records, and sci-
entific data.

The park is allowed to permanently hold federal 
records created by the park’s administration in-
stead of transferring them to the National Archives 
because of its affiliation with the National Archives 
and Records Administration (NARA). While legal 
custody of these records belongs to NARA, physical 
custody is kept by Yellowstone National Park to allow 
researchers to have the best access to both current 
and historical resources in one location. Finding aids, 
or detailed descriptions, of the collections as well as 
information about accessing the documents may be 
found on the Yellowstone Archives webpage. 

Research Library
The mission of the Yellowstone Research Library 
is to collect published and unpublished materials 
related to Yellowstone and to make these materials 
available to park staff, researchers, and the general 
public. The library collection consists of more than 
20,000 books, periodicals, theses and dissertations, 
unpublished manuscripts, microforms of historic 
newspapers and scrapbooks, brochures, technical 
reports, and audio visual material. 

The Map Room collection includes a large num-
ber of published maps from 1865 to the present. In 

The archives are an affiliate of the National Archives 
and include records from the US Army’s administration 
of the park.

The Yellowstone Research Library is in the midst of 
a digitization project that will make library records 
accessible online.
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the Rare Book Room are the personal papers and 
books of notable figures from Yellowstone history, 
including Major Hiram Chittenden and several early 
superintendents. Donations from the Yellowstone 
Association, the Yellowstone Park Foundation, and 
private donors, as well as funding provided by the 
National Park Service, have made possible an impres-
sive, possibly unsurpassed, example of Yellowstone 
National Park resources.

The library has also hosted teacher training semi-
nars focusing on primary documents and teacher-
led high school writing groups. In 2006, the library 
staff began a bookmobile service that travels around 
the park interior once a month during the summer. 
Participation in the program has grown by at least 
30% every year since it began.

The Yellowstone Library and Museum 
Association, predecessor of today’s Yellowstone 
Association, was organized in 1933 in part “to 
assist in the establishment and development of a 
Yellowstone Park Library for the use of rangers, 
ranger naturalists and others dealing with park visi-
tors and the public.” While the library collection is 
now the property of the National Park Service, the 
Yellowstone Association continues to support the 

library by employing librarians and providing most of 
the funding for purchases and subscriptions as well 
as for specific library projects.

Staff Reviewer
Colleen Curry, Supervisory Museum Curator

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTION:

Can I access the collections online?
The Yellowstone Research Library’s catalog is available 
through the Wyoming Library Databases consortium 
(http://wyld.state.wy.us/yrl/) and the National Park Service’s 
libraries (http://www.library.nps.gov). Records that are 
available online are linked through the library catalog. 
Finding aids for processed archives collections may be 
accessed at http://www.nps.gov/yell/historyculture/
archives.htm.

The Yellowstone Research Library is working to digitize 
more of the library’s collections. The library’s digitization 
project, “History of Gardiner,” is available on the Montana 
Memory Project website: http://montanamemory.
org. Electronic files of published scientific articles are 
available in the Data Store on the Integrated Resources 
Management Applications (IRMA) website, https://irma.
nps.gov/Portal.
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